







# Understanding the Changing Context for Research for Development (R4D) in Latin America and the Caribbean since 2019

A study for the International Development Research Centre (IDRC)

May 2023

# **CONTENTS**

About OTT	3
About Instituto Veredas	3
About Hub LAC	3
Executive Summary	4
1. Introduction and methodology	6
1.1 About this report	6
1.2 Methodology	6
Literature review	6
Pulse survey and think pieces	7
2. Research findings	8
2.1 Macro level trends shaping R4D in Latin America and the Caribbean sind	ce
2019	
The global economic crisis	
Political polarization and election trends	9
Growing distrust in public institutions.	10
Increasing focus on climate change	11
Covid-19 pandemic	12
Public perception of science and evidence	13
Multipolarity in the region: how the European Union, the United States and China influence R4D in Latin America and the Caribbean	15
New technologies	15
2.2 Micro-level trends and implications	17
R4D ecosystem in the region has seen important growth	17
Emergence of data-driven initiatives	18
Increased technocratic capacity	19
Limited funding and competing agendas	19
Gender and equality in R4D	20
2.3 Key drivers and inhibitors of change in the ecosystem in the region and impacts on key actors	
3. Spotlight on actors	
Research producing actors	_
Communicators and disseminators	
Users of evidence	
4. Reflections and implications	
Additional topics and areas for research in Latin America and the Caribbean	
5. Bibliography	-

#### **About OTT**

OTT is a global consultancy and platform for change. We support and strengthen the work of research organisations, foundations, governments and non-governmental organisations in support of better-informed decision-making. Through our consultancy work, we develop tailored solutions to specific challenges. With services spanning research, learning facilitation, strategy and evaluation, we partner with organisations to drive evidence-informed change.

Through the On Think Tanks platform, we build, nurture and support a global community of people working in, with, and funding think tanks.

#### **About Instituto Veredas**

A Brazilian non-profit, nonpartisan organisation that aims to bring awareness among public policymakers, universities, and civil society of the importance of evidence-informed policymaking processes. We approach scientific data with knowledge translation tools, adapting communication to people's needs. We value transparency and believe that policy debates are only possible when every person can understand and develop opinions concerning public matters.

#### **About Hub LAC**

The Latin American and the Caribbean Evidence Hub (Hub LAC) articulates and mobilises actors around Evidence-Informed Policies (EIP) to respond to shared challenges in Latin America and the Caribbean. Hub LAC wants to be a meeting point between governments, academia, universities and civil society. Hub LAC is co-directed by the Caribbean Centre for Health Systems Research (CCHRSD) in Trinidad and Tobago; the Evidence-Informed Health Policies Unit in the Chilean Ministry of Health; the Unit of Evidence and Deliberation for Decision Making in the University of Antioquia in Colombia; and Instituto Veredas in Brazil.

## **Executive Summary**

The Research for Development (R4D) ecosystem in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) is experiencing significant transformation influenced by various macro and micro trends. These trends have profound implications for actors within the ecosystem, including research producers, communicators and disseminators, users of evidence, and funders of R4D. Understanding the impact of these trends on actors is crucial for fostering effective research collaboration, evidence-based decision-making, and sustainable development in the region.

Drawing on inputs from experts, existing literature, and consultations with regional actors, this report aims to highlight the transformative changes occurring in the R4D ecosystem and offer strategic recommendations to navigate these trends effectively.

As macro-level trends shaping R4D in Latin America and the Caribbean since 2019, we identified:

- The global economic crisis: It has prompted governments and development actors to seek innovative solutions and strategies to address economic challenges.
- Political polarization: Polarization across the region has increased during the past years in the region, many times hindering consensus and effective policymaking.
- Growing distrust in public institutions: This trend can potentially drive efforts to enhance transparency, accountability, and responsiveness in the R4D ecosystem. However, it has mostly hindered effective collaboration between researchers, policymakers, and the public. This creates barriers to the uptake and utilization of evidence.
- Increasing focus on climate change: Research agendas have been increasingly
  incorporating sustainability and environmental considerations due to the growing
  emphasis on climate change.
- Covid-19 pandemic: Serving as a catalyst, the pandemic has heightened stakeholders' awareness of the challenges and opportunities in the region. It has also built momentum to strengthen the R4D ecosystem, enhance research collaboration, and promote evidence-informed policies.
- Public perception of science and evidence: The region has witnessed changes in the way
  people shape the expected role of science ecosystems, cross-country collaboration, and
  evidence-based decision-making, with some witnessing increased public awareness,
  trust, and demand for evidence-based policies and others seeing the effects of public
  scepticism, misinformation, and lack of scientific literacy.
- Multipolarity in the region: The emergence of new actors, such as China, has contributed to the regional R4D ecosystem, fostering a multipolar environment.

As micro-level trends and implications, we highlighted the important growth of the R4D ecosystem in the region, the emergence of data-driven initiatives, the increased technocratic capacity, the relationship between gender and equality and the limited funding and competing agendas for the R4D ecosystem.

These trends have far-reaching implications for the various actors in the R4D ecosystem. Research producers face challenges securing funding and ensuring project sustainability, but they can leverage technology to enhance their capabilities and embrace interdisciplinary approaches. Communicators and disseminators of research face resource constraints and misinformation, necessitating the adoption of alternative communication strategies and the engagement of diverse audiences. Users of evidence, including policymakers and practitioners, confront limited financial resources and erosion of public trust, underscoring the importance of transparency, evidence uptake, and engagement in knowledge exchange platforms.

Based on the analysis of the key trends shaping the Research for Development (R4D) ecosystem in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC), several strategic recommendations emerge to respond effectively to the evolving landscape. These recommendations aim to enhance collaboration, strengthen data governance, leverage technological innovations, address funding gaps, and engage with emerging actors. By implementing these recommendations, stakeholders, including the International Development Research Centre (IDRC), can contribute to advancing the R4D ecosystem in the region and promoting sustainable development.

- Re-focus IDRC's research agenda to consider the trends identified in this study as research topics in themselves: IDRC can help the R4D ecosystem respond to these trends by investing in its own capacity to understand and navigate them as they develop.
- Foster Collaboration and Knowledge Exchange: Support funding initiatives that promote national, regional and international research networks, facilitating collaboration among researchers, policymakers, and practitioners in LAC.
- Strengthen Data Governance: Fund initiatives that strengthen data governance frameworks in LAC, addressing data privacy concerns, promoting open data initiatives, and developing ethical guidelines for data collection, storage, and sharing.
- Embrace Technological Innovations: Explore partnerships and funding opportunities to support the adoption and integration of emerging technologies, such as Web 3 and ChatGPT (and other LLM), into the R4D ecosystem in LAC. More understanding is needed about the implications of emerging technologies.
- Address Funding Gaps and Competing Agendas: Strategically support projects that fill
  critical gaps in the R4D ecosystem, focusing on underrepresented topics, early-stage
  innovations, and areas of research that align with sustainable development goals.
- Engage with Emerging Actors: Understand and effectively engage with the presence of emerging actors, leveraging their expertise and resources to strengthen research collaborations and promote equitable partnerships.

# Additional topics and areas for research in Latin America and the Caribbean

This report also provides an overview of priority topics identified by think tanks in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) and their importance in the region. The topics were identified through the OTT State of the Survey Report 2022, which combined the findings with macro and micro-

level trends shaping the R4D ecosystem in the region. Additionally, participant priorities expressed during the enLACe 2022 meeting were considered.

The most frequently mentioned topic by think tanks was governance, reflecting the need to improve governance structures, policies, and practices in LAC. Social policy ranked second, highlighting the region's focus on addressing social inequalities and poverty. Trade, economics, and finance were also considered important due to the region's reliance on international trade.

Other significant topics identified included defence, peace, and security; environment and climate change; law, justice, and human rights; Covid-19 impacts and recovery; health; education; and science, technology, and innovation. These topics address various challenges the region faces, such as organized crime, environmental degradation, access to justice, and the effects of the pandemic.

The enLACe 2022 meeting highlighted specific areas to further strengthen evidence-informed policy-making in the region. Participants emphasized the need for training programs to equip governments with the skills to effectively utilize evidence in their decision-making processes. Additionally, there was a strong emphasis on training evidence producers and disseminators in innovative knowledge translation methodologies, ensuring that research findings are effectively communicated and translated into actionable policies. Another important demand was the mapping and promoting connections between key actors in the R4D ecosystem, including evidence producers, users, and disseminators. Collaboration and knowledge exchange can be enhanced by creating and strengthening these connections, leading to more impactful and evidence-based policy decisions. Lastly, participants recognized the significance of monitoring the use of evidence in policy decision-making. They stressed the importance of tracking and evaluating how evidence is utilized to shape policies, ensuring its effective integration and impact on addressing the region's challenges.

# 1. Introduction and methodology

### 1.1 About this report

This report aims to serve as input for the International Development Research Centre (IDRC) to gain a comprehensive understanding of the changing context for research for development (R4D) in Latin America and the Caribbean. By providing a critical snapshot of the region's current institutional landscape for R4D, the report analyses the main trends and developments that have significantly influenced the field from 2019 to 2023. Furthermore, it aims to explore the implications of these trends for actors within the R4D ecosystem.

We have employed a multifaceted research approach to identify the most important macro and micro trends that have affected the R4D ecosystem in the region. Firstly, we conducted a rapid literature review encompassing available research and analysis on the R4D ecosystem. This review encompassed reports, research papers, media outlets and commentary to ensure a comprehensive understanding of ongoing regional discussions and debates. Additionally, we engaged in a pulse survey that was widely shared to gather diverse perspectives and inform our analysis.

In an effort to identify emerging trends and issues, we also commissioned think pieces from researchers and thinkers within our network. By leveraging the expertise of OTT's network and collaborating with Grupo Veredas and the HubLAC, this report draws upon a broad range of insights and experiences working in the region.

### 1.2 Methodology

The methodology employed in this report consisted of three main inputs: a literature review, pulse surveys, and think pieces. Each of these inputs played a crucial role in capturing a comprehensive understanding of the trends that have shaped the research for development (R4D) ecosystem in Latin America and the Caribbean.

#### Literature review

We conducted thorough searches across various databases, web pages, and repositories, including Google Scholar, IDRC, OECD, and IDB. Keywords and concepts related to research for development (R4D), research systems/ecosystems and policy, Latin America and the Caribbean, and specific topics relevant to the region were utilized. Additionally, we incorporated "snowball" searches, grey literature, and specific documents recommended by experts and the Hub LAC. The inclusion criteria required documents related to R4D in Latin America and the Caribbean, published from 2019 onwards and available in Spanish, Portuguese, or English. The review process involved summarizing relevant findings from the first 50 results in each database,

repository, and website. A total of 63 documents, including news articles, blogs, scientific papers, and books, contributed to a comprehensive understanding of the R4D landscape.

### Pulse survey and think pieces

A pulse survey was created and shared across OTT, Veredas, and HubLac networks to gather macro and micro trends in the region. The survey is available in Spanish, English, and Portuguese and received 18 responses from practitioners and experts from countries such as Peru, Mexico, Ecuador, Trinidad and Tobago, Venezuela, Argentina, Colombia, Costa Rica, Uruguay, and Brazil. While the purpose of the survey was not to provide statistically significant data, it complemented the literature review by providing additional perspectives for the research. The survey remained open until the third week of May, capturing valuable insights from the respondents.

Furthermore, the research team has invited several experts and practitioners to contribute think pieces to inform the research process. The key ideas of the contributors have been included in the research report, and the think pieces will be published on OTT's platforms. The team has already received confirmation from three contributors (Table 1), and they are waiting for confirmation from two more contributors, which should be confirmed in the next few days.

Three experts were commissioned to provide inputs on specific topics relevant to the research objectives. The experts' contributions offered valuable insights into emerging trends and issues within the R4D ecosystem in Latin America and the Caribbean. The commissioned contributions included:

- Soledad Quiroz, Vice-President, International Network for Government Science Advice: Soledad Quiroz's think piece focused on the changing role of science advice after the pandemic. Her expertise and analysis shed light on the evolving dynamics of science advice and its implications for the R4D landscape.
- Julio López, Founder, DataLat: Julio López's think piece centred on data governance in Latin America. His insights provided a critical perspective on the challenges and opportunities related to data governance within the R4D context in the region.
- Amir Lebdioui, Lecturer, SOAS: Amir Lebdioui contributed a think piece exploring biodiversity-based knowledge in Latin America's innovation context. His expertise shed light on the intersection of biodiversity, innovation, and R4D, emphasizing the unique opportunities and considerations in the region.

These expert contributions further enriched the research process by providing future-looking trends and insights that may not be present in the literature review alone. The think pieces will be published as standalone pieces on OTT's platforms, showcasing the expertise and diverse perspectives of the contributors.

## 2. Research findings

We have classified trends in the R4D ecosystem at the macro and micro levels. At the macro level, this review focuses on the broader social, economic, political, or cultural context that shapes the research for the development ecosystem in Latin America. This level of analysis can be useful for understanding how larger-scale factors, such as government policies, economic systems, or cultural norms, impact the production and use of evidence and how change has or is occurring in the R4D ecosystem in the region. The micro-level trends we have identified may have more immediate or direct impacts on the production and use of evidence in specific contexts.

It's essential to recognize that macro and micro-level trends are interconnected, mutually reinforcing, and dynamic. They do not operate in isolation but rather influence and shape each other. These trends can also have varying effects in different countries and ecosystems within LAC due to contextual differences. Therefore, understanding these trends helps provide a comprehensive overview of the forces likely to shape the R4D ecosystem in the region, guiding efforts to strengthen research collaboration, evidence uptake, and evidence-informed policies.

# 2.1 Macro level trends shaping R4D in Latin America and the Caribbean since 2019

### The global economic crisis

The economic crisis in Latin America is a significant macro-level trend that has shaped the region's research for development (R4D) ecosystem since 2019. This crisis has far-reaching implications for the R4D community as governments grapple with maintaining public services and addressing the needs of their populations. The worsening of existing development problems, such as poverty, inequality, and health disparities, creates a demand for evidence-informed solutions, putting pressure on the R4D community to produce high-quality research that can inform policy and practice.

However, governments in the region are likely to face competing demands as they respond to the crisis. The limited resources available may lead them to prioritize short-term needs over long-term investments, including research and development. As a result, the R4D community must find new ways to demonstrate the relevance and impact of their work within the context of the economic crisis.

The current global scenario further reinforces the challenges Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) face regarding economic growth (OECD, 2020). In 2023, the three main global economies are expected to experience stalled growth rates. The United States is projected to grow by only 0.7%, the Eurozone by 0.3%, and China by 4.4% (José Manuel Salazar-Xirinachs, 2023).

For the LAC region, the outlook for economic growth is also modest. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) projects an average growth rate of 1.7%, while the World Bank and the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) estimate rates of 1.3% and 1.7%, respectively (Daniel Zovatto, 2023). The United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) specifically forecasts a growth rate of 1.3% for the region in 2023,

with South America at 1%, Central America at 3%, and the Caribbean at 3.3%. Mexico is expected to grow at only 1.1% (José Manuel Salazar-Xirinachs, 2023).

This low economic growth will have a negative impact on poverty rates, which are projected to remain above 30%. The limited growth prospects also pose challenges for job creation, maintaining social expenditures, investing in education, and addressing the increased number of migrants. Consequently, the region faces the risk of social unrest due to these economic challenges (OECD, 2020; Daniel Zovatto, 2023; José Manuel Salazar-Xirinachs, 2023).

The global economic crisis presents both challenges and opportunities for the R4D ecosystem in Latin America and the Caribbean. While resources may be constrained, the need for evidence-informed solutions to address pressing social and economic issues becomes even more urgent. The R4D community must adapt to this evolving context, demonstrating the value and impact of their research in addressing the region's needs amidst the economic crisis.

#### Political polarization and election trends

The recent elections in Latin America have been characterized by significant political polarization, and this trend is expected to have profound implications for the research for development (R4D) ecosystem in the region. The emergence of leftist candidates in several countries presents both opportunities and challenges for R4D. At least publicly, these leaders prioritize social welfare, poverty reduction, and environmental sustainability, providing new avenues for research and development. They campaign on promises of greater social justice and equity, which align with the objectives of R4D that IDRC and other development cooperation agencies promote.

However, the political polarization observed, and often fueled by those same leaders, in recent elections also poses obstacles to collaboration and knowledge-sharing within the R4D community. Researchers and practitioners may encounter difficulties working together across ideological divides, hindering the progress and impact of their collective efforts.

The Latin America Political Risk Report 2023 sheds light on the prevailing political, economic, and societal trends in the region. These trends are characterized by a growing sense of insecurity stemming from widespread organized crime, food insecurity, escalating cyber-attacks, and the erosion of democracies due to populism, polarization, and authoritarian proposals. Additionally, the region grapples with poor economic growth, unresponsive governments, unresolved citizen demands, and an ongoing migratory crisis (Benjamin Gedan et al., 2023; Daniel Zovatto, 2023). Such a confluence of challenges further complicates governability and is regarded as one of the "biggest headaches for many Latin American governments" (Daniel Zovatto, 2023).

Notably, the political landscape in Latin America has undergone a reconfiguration, with left-wing progressive governments assuming prominence. However, these governments face adverse global and regional conditions, including sluggish global growth, high inflation, and the aftermath of the pandemic. Consequently, Latin America experiences high uncertainty, instability, volatility, political polarization, and a crisis of governability in multiple countries throughout 2023. Moreover, this situation occurs within the context of the "electoral super-cycle" spanning from 2021 to 2024, during which nearly all countries in the region will hold elections (Daniel Zovatto, 2023) and weak (and weakening) democratic institutions.

The region presents a contrasting political scenario as well. The rise of centre-left, left or progressive governments is matched by the rise of far-right populism, which challenges established institutions and even advocates for military intervention when election outcomes are unfavourable. This trend poses a threat to democratic principles, which is not to say that some countries are witnessing the preservation and strengthening of democracy, demonstrating improved quality and resilience (Daniel Zovatto, 2023).

The complex interplay of political polarization and election trends underscores the challenges faced by the R4D ecosystem in Latin America. Stakeholders within the R4D community must navigate these challenges, foster collaboration despite ideological differences, and demonstrate the relevance and impact of their work in this politically charged environment.

#### **Growing distrust in public institutions**

Latin American societies exhibit lower levels of trust in public institutions compared to other regions, which has significant implications for the research for development (R4D) ecosystem in the region. This lack of trust distorts citizens' expectations of the government, including its investment in research, science, and technology, as people believe that public officials cannot be trusted to invest efficiently in the public interest (Scartascini & Valle, 2021).

The growing distrust in public institutions can lead to ineffective public affairs and policy management. When citizens lack confidence in the government's ability to govern effectively and transparently, it can result in decision-making processes that are influenced by personal interests, corruption, or political considerations rather than evidence-based research.

Across the region, public distrust and a shrinking civic space are perceived as major challenges across Latin America (OTT State of the Survey Report, 2022). Polls conducted by Latinobarometro reveal that a significant percentage of the population in countries like Mexico, Peru, and Brazil have low trust in their own communities. Trust in institutions like the Presidency, Congress, and political parties also exhibits significant gaps between Latin America and the Caribbean and wealthier economies, with Argentinians having far less trust in political parties than Canadians (OECD, 2019; Vanderbilt University, 2021; Bachelet, 2021).

This scepticism can hinder the allocation of adequate resources and funding to R4D initiatives, limiting their potential impact on addressing social challenges and promoting sustainable development. Research by the IDB and Vanderbilt University's Latin American Public Opinion Project (LAPOP) reveals that citizens want better public services but are reluctant to fund government programs to achieve them. For example, although a significant percentage of respondents in high-crime regions express the need for increased police funding, a lower percentage is willing to pay higher taxes. Similar gaps exist in other areas, such as education. The widespread mistrust in public institutions reduces support for taxes aimed at financing essential services and leads to a weakening social contract. This distrust, coupled with dissatisfaction with public services, can create a vicious cycle of social discontent (Vanderbilt University, 2021).

Furthermore, the erosion of trust in public institutions can contribute to social crises and unrest. When citizens perceive that their needs and concerns are not being addressed and they lack trust in the government's ability to provide essential services, it can fuel social discontent and protests (OECD, 2020). These social tensions and conflicts can disrupt the R4D ecosystem by diverting

attention and resources from research and development efforts, creating an unstable environment for collaboration and knowledge-sharing among researchers and practitioners.

The lack of trust in public institutions can also impact international collaborations and partnerships in R4D. When institutions and researchers from other countries perceive a lack of transparency, accountability, and trustworthiness in the local institutions, they may be hesitant to engage in collaborative projects or share valuable knowledge and expertise. This can hinder the exchange of ideas, access to international funding opportunities and limit the overall progress of the R4D ecosystem in the region.

#### Increasing focus on climate change

The increasing focus on climate change by multilateral development banks and organizations is a significant global trend shaping the research for development (R4D) ecosystem in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC). This trend offers both opportunities and challenges for development actors in the region, highlighting the need to enhance capabilities to respond effectively to the implications of climate change.

The LAC region is particularly vulnerable to climate change due to higher temperatures, extreme weather events, and its reliance on climate-sensitive sectors like tourism and agriculture (Watkins et al., 2023; Coda, 2021). Climate change poses significant challenges, disrupting economic activities and livelihoods in the region. Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic and climate crises exacerbate inequities, impacting income distribution, poverty rates, and country revenues. Natural disasters associated with climate change push a substantial number of people into extreme poverty each year, further highlighting the urgency to address these issues.

One aspect of the trend is the differential funding opportunities for mitigation and adaptation actions. Mitigation efforts, which focus on reducing greenhouse gas emissions, often attract private sector investments due to potential returns. In contrast, adaptation actions, which aim to build resilience and address the impacts of climate change, primarily rely on donations as they offer fewer commercial interests. It is important to prioritize adaptation actions in budgetary terms and consider their future impact on non-climate-related projects, ensuring comprehensive and effective responses based on rigorous science (Watkins, 2023; Titelman et al., 2023).

The increasing focus on climate change by multilateral development banks and organizations creates an opportunity for researchers in Latin America to contribute to evidence-based approaches to climate change policy. The research and evidence ecosystem in the region will need to adapt to these changes to ensure its relevance and impact in a shifting policy landscape. Developing partnerships with donors can amplify regional research opportunities and collaboration.

In addition, strengthening capacities in areas such as digitalization, innovative agricultural techniques, water management, and energy conversion is crucial. This includes providing increased financial support for innovation projects, integrating climate change approaches into professional degrees, and disseminating information about climate change impacts across economic sectors. Research centres and academia in the LAC region need to address topics such as climate change finance, environmental regulations, and disaster management to enhance their

ability to communicate the implications of climate change to diverse audiences with varying educational levels and information needs. Strengthening the skills required to develop financial instruments and mechanisms for implementing adaptation and mitigation projects is particularly important.

#### Covid-19 pandemic

The Covid-19 pandemic has profoundly impacted the R4D ecosystem in Latin America and the Caribbean, creating challenges and opportunities for research and development in the region. The crisis has exposed the strengths and weaknesses of the research infrastructure and highlighted the critical role of R4D in responding to the pandemic.

LAC's investment in health research has provided a solid foundation for tackling the pandemic, enabling the region to possess the necessary expertise and resources to conduct vital epidemiological studies (Stanford et al., 2022). However, the limited contribution to vaccine research during the initial stages of the pandemic has underscored the need for increased investment in R4D to develop a more comprehensive response to future pandemics.

Moreover, the pandemic has revealed vulnerabilities in the evidence-to-policy ecosystem. As resources were redirected to address the crisis, research institutions in several countries faced budget cuts, creating discrepancies between the demands placed on scientists and the available resources for an effective response.

The Covid-19 pandemic has also influenced public perception and trust in science (Thomson, 2021). While there has been an overall increase in perceived knowledge and confidence in scientific expertise, misinformation and inadequate political responses have highlighted the need for better integrating scientific evidence into decision-making processes. Furthermore, the pandemic has exposed the limitations in utilizing scientific information for clinical management and population health decisions, particularly in the early stages when reliable data was scarce. Expediting decision-making through transparent approaches incorporating ethical principles and established methodologies is essential to leverage evidence effectively.

In the face of the pandemic, different approaches have been observed across the region, ranging from encouraging scientific production to reducing funding and support for research institutions. The latter poses a risk of hindering the progress of the R4D ecosystem and potentially eradicating an entire generation of regional scientists, emphasizing the importance of prioritizing and protecting research and development investments.

While the pandemic itself is not a conventional trend, it has brought about a momentous shift, the consequences of which continue to unfold. Its implications for the region's research for development (R4D) ecosystem are far-reaching and are yet to be fully understood. While the pandemic has had varying effects on the perception of science and evidence across the region, it has also exposed vulnerabilities in the health and social systems. It remains uncertain whether the lessons learned from this experience will be effectively utilized to inform improved policies and better preparedness for future pandemics.

#### Public perception of science and evidence

The Covid-19 pandemic has significantly impacted the public perception of science and evidence in Latin America. While the crisis has brought attention to research capabilities in many countries and elevated the political standing of science, it has also revealed challenges in establishing effective institutional mechanisms to respond to the crisis, resulting in a lack of trust between scientists, policymakers, and the public.

Social media platforms like TikTok, Facebook, and YouTube have been instrumental in shaping public sentiment towards science, with both positive and negative implications for producing and using evidence in policymaking.

Nevertheless, there is a positive trend towards using evidence in public policy, and many Latin American countries are adopting initiatives and programs to increase technical capacity and promote an evidence-based culture in decisionmaking. The growing public awareness of the importance of evidence has put pressure on policymakers to base their decisions on reliable information. For instance, Panama has taken a significant step by launching an official national strategy for science diplomacy in 2018, positioning itself at the forefront of diplomacy regional science emphasizing the integration of science, technology, and innovation into foreign policy structures to align national and international policies with the 2030 Agenda.

#### Box 2. The role of Scientific Advisory Systems in Latin America

Excerpt from the Think Piece written by Soledad Quiroz Valenzuela, Vice-President, International Network for Government Science Advice (INGSA)

Soledad Quiroz Valenzuela, in her analysis of the role of scientific advisory systems in Latin America, emphasizes their significance in addressing the challenges posed by climate change. She highlights the need to enhance science-policy interfaces by establishing stronger links between scientific advisory bodies and policy-making institutions. Regular dialogue and engagement between scientists policymakers, as well as incorporating scientific expertise into policy formulation and implementation processes, are crucial for effective responses and solutions.

Furthermore, she emphasizes the importance of interdisciplinary promoting approaches, encouraging collaboration among scientists from various disciplines to comprehensively address climate-related challenges. Lastly, underscores the need for knowledge exchange, public engagement, and stakeholder involvement in scientific discussions and decision-making processes to ensure transparency, inclusivity, and the relevance of scientific advice in shaping the R4D ecosystem in Latin America and the Caribbean.

Several programs implemented or under development in Latin America from 2019 to 2023 contribute to promoting trust in evidence. These programs, such as the "Strengthening Capacity for Evidence-Based Health Production" by the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), the "Open Science in Latin America" initiative led by multiple research teams in the region, the "Regional Program for Research in Climate-Adaptive Agriculture" supported by the Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture, and the "Strengthening Research on Renewable Energy in Latin America and the Caribbean" implemented by the International

Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA), demonstrate the region's commitment to enhancing evidence-based practices in sectors like health, science, agriculture, and renewable energy. Through research, capacity building, and collaboration, these programs aim to foster trust in the reliability and credibility of evidence in Latin America (Carneiro et al., 2021; López-Vergès et al., 2021; OECD, 2019; Palmén et al., 2020).

However, challenges remain, including excessive misinformation and a lack of evidence-informed policies, further compounded by limited funding for research and development in the region. The Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) report indicates that only 0.5% of GDP is invested in research and development in Latin America, resulting in slow research development, failure to verify information, reduced research capacity, and low-quality research (OECD, 2020).

Addressing these challenges requires increased investment in research and development and better integration of scientific evidence into decision-making processes. Instances of misinformation and inadequate political responses to the pandemic, as observed in Brazil, underscore the need for evidence-based policymaking. The barriers to action-oriented research, such as lack of investment, disconnection between researchers, lack of incentives, fragmentation of knowledge, and limited learning capacity from experience, also hinder trust and credibility in evidence.

In conclusion, while there are challenges to promoting trust in research and evidence in Latin America, positive programs and initiatives have been implemented, showing progress in addressing these issues. Policymakers, researchers, and other stakeholders must continue to promote evidence-informed policies and foster trust in research in the region (CIC, 2022). By prioritizing investment, integration, and collaboration, Latin America can overcome these challenges and build a stronger foundation for evidence-based decision-making.

# Multipolarity in the region: how the European Union, the United States and China influence R4D in Latin America and the Caribbean

So far, Latin America and the Caribbean have relied highly on support from the European Union and the United States in creating and sustaining their R4D ecosystem. Latin America has historically been the part of the world with the highest approval rating for the U.S., rooted in foreign assistance, education, and cultural ties (Nugent & Campbell, 2021). Diverse research fellowships and partnerships among researchers in these countries have multiplied in the past decades (i.e., EURAXESS Latin America and the Caribbean, EU-LAC HEALTH, USAID). Since 2018, the region has observed a rising tide of isolationism and "antiglobalism", with ideological divergence and domestic polarization (Merke, Stuenkel & Feldmann, 2021). Tensions between the United States and China have reached the region, influencing investments and collaborations. In Brazil, the region's largest economy, bilateral trade with China rose from USD 2 billion in 2000 to USD 100 billion in 2020 (Nugent & Campbell, 2021).

China's growing role in Latin America and the Caribbean has significant implications for the development policies in the region and is slowly shifting tendencies in the R4D environment. During the Covid-19 pandemic, China has engaged in "COVID-19 diplomacy" in the region by distributing medical equipment, offering loans to purchase Chinese vaccines, and investing in local vaccine production facilities. The Caribbean has been a top recipient of China's development finance institutions' most recent loans to LAC (Myers & Ray, 2022). While these actions have

improved China's image and gained favour with regional governments, they have also raised concerns about dependence on Chinese loans and the potential for debt traps.

Nevertheless, China's focus on soft power, including strengthening cultural and educational ties through initiatives such as Confucius Institutes, has helped Beijing build political goodwill with local governments and present itself as an alternative partner to the United States and European states (Ellis et al., 2022). However, some experts who answered our pulse survey fear China's growing presence in Latin American universities may lead to declining academic freedom. This could potentially limit content production on sensitive topics such as political freedom or censorship. Other experts suggest prioritising environmental and social protections concerning the heavily concentrated Chinese demand for primary commodities, which might influence the LAC autonomy in sustainable R4D (Ray & Gallagher, 2016).

#### New technologies

The emergence of new technologies, such as AI tools (such as ChatGPT and other Large Language Models - LLM), can potentially revolutionize the production and use of evidence in Latin America. AI can greatly enhance the efficiency and accuracy of data analysis, enabling researchers to produce evidence more quickly and at higher quality. However, it may also lead to job displacement as routine tasks become automated.

The emergence of AI tools like ChatGPT has significant implications for the production and use of research and evidence. On the one hand, the availability of ChatGPT can make access to existing evidence more accessible to a broader audience. This tool can be valuable for individuals seeking to inform their thinking and decision-making processes. However, it is crucial to recognize that ChatGPT is still in its early stages, with challenges to consider. One concern is the lack of transparency regarding how the AI tool selects and presents relevant evidence. It is currently difficult to discern which evidence is chosen and what may be excluded, potentially reinforcing biases and perpetuating a culture of misinformation. To address this issue, researchers and other development actors need to incorporate ChatGPT and other AI tools as part of their audience. By doing so, they can better understand how these tools select information and take proactive measures to ensure that accurate and diverse information is considered.

Although the adoption of these new technologies in Latin America is still in the early stages, there is growing interest and experimentation in the region. As the benefits and challenges become better understood, more projects and initiatives are likely to emerge in the coming years that aim to leverage these technologies for evidence production and use. It is crucial for policymakers, researchers, and other actors in the evidence ecosystem to stay informed about these developments and work together to ensure that the potential benefits of these technologies are realized in a way that promotes the public interest and addresses any potential challenges.

The migration of research activities to online spaces is a growing trend in the research for development (R4D) ecosystem in Latin America, especially after the COVID-19 pandemic. While online research facilitates greater collaboration and sharing of findings, it also risks excluding researchers and communities without reliable internet access or digital tools and skills. This could limit the diversity of voices and perspectives in research exacerbate existing inequalities. Moreover, the move towards online research may challenge the quality and rigour of findings, as online platforms and databases are susceptible to issues like data breaches and fraudulent activity. The R4D community in Latin America must address these challenges and ensure that online research methods are reliable, equitable, and inclusive (Cobo et al., 2021).

In Latin America, the current stakeholder ecosystem for AI is fragmented, with numerous actors and limited capacity to drive necessary systemic change. Unlike other regions, Latin America lacks a forum to coordinate policy, public investments, and assessment of the AI landscape. The Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) has supported the region in managing rapid technological change by involving research on cutting-edge technology like artificial intelligence and implementing policies and programs that foster digital inclusion and governance (United Nations, 2022; Scrollini & Cervantes, 2022).

#### Box 3: Data and Emerging Technologies: Transforming the R4D Ecosystem in LAC

Excerpt from the Think Piece by Julio Lopez, Co-Founder of Fundacion Datalat (Ecuador)

The R4D ecosystem in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) is experiencing a profound transformation fueled by the advancement of digital technologies and emerging technologies such blockchain, and data analytics. These innovations are revolutionizing research and development practices, facilitating the emergence of new research networks, and enhancing the effectiveness of development interventions.

Open data initiatives, research and innovation hubs, public-private partnerships, data science centers, and data-driven startups are shaping the landscape of R4D in the region, fostering innovation, collaboration, and the utilization of data across various fields.

This wave of digitalization and increased data availability is propelling LAC into a new era of research and development, with significant implications for the region's socio-economic development and scientific advancement.

Despite the challenges, initiatives are emerging across the region to respond to the challenges posed by new technologies. For example, the Inter-American Institute for Global Change Research (IAI) has established the Science, Technology, Policy (STeP) Fellowship Program. This pioneering effort aims to strengthen human and institutional capacities in IAI member countries such as Mexico, Argentina, the US, and Canada. Through hands-on learning, professional development, and mentorship, the program prepares Latin American and Caribbean professionals for science-policy interactions (López-Vergès et al., 2021).

## 2.2 Micro-level trends and implications

### R4D ecosystem in the region has seen important growth

The R4D ecosystem in the region has seen important growth and is adopting an intersectoral approach. Existing networks and research organizations engaging with R4D can serve as a platform for greater collaboration and sharing of knowledge and resources among stakeholders, including researchers, policymakers, and communities. By bringing together diverse perspectives and expertise, networks can facilitate the development of more nuanced and context-specific research, essential for effective evidence-informed policymaking.

One example is the creation of the Latin American and Caribbean Evidence Hub (Hub LAC), launched in 2022. This organisation promotes transnational and interdisciplinary collaboration to institutionalise Evidence-Informed Policymaking (EIPM) in the Latin American and Caribbean region. In late 2022, the Hub LAC conducted enLACe, a regional meeting to strengthen a common agenda on evidence-informed public policy. During the event, participants prioritized key topics and methodologies for the Hub LAC to focus on in the following years: 1) Sustainable development, particularly the issue of preserving the environment; 2) Black population and racism; and 3) Social, economic, and urban inequality). Another organisational development in EIPM at the country level was the creation of the Brazilian Coalition for Evidence in 2021, a network of institutions working to unite civil society, academia, and public management around Evidence-Informed Policy and Knowledge Translation for social development (Coalizão Brasileira pelas Evidências, 2023).

At the same time, the lack of coordination among regional research organisations highlights the need for greater investment in mapping and promoting articulation between key actors (evidence producers, users and disseminators) and building and strengthening these networks. This includes developing normative and mandates requiring policymakers and government workers to effectively identify, assess, and apply evidence in policymaking (Kuchenmüller et al., 2021). Monitoring the interface of the knowledge ecosystem and policymakers must be a priority to ensure evidence is effectively integrated into decision-making processes.

Evidence demand is increasing in the LAC region, but this is an incremental process, and different types of government agencies may require different types of evidence and approaches (Carter et al., 2018). Over time, the number of professionals/organizations with the capacity to respond is becoming insufficient. Collaboration within and between countries is growing, but language barriers still make it hard for regional collaborations to sustain routines, engage stakeholders and disseminate their results. There is an increasing need for capacity building on EIPM as a field, and training in innovative knowledge translation methodologies for evidence producers, disseminators, and government members is highlighted as a demand in the region<sup>2</sup>. This has led

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Notes from the enLACe meeting in 2022: <a href="https://www.enlace2022.com/">https://www.enlace2022.com/</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Notes from the enLACe meeting in 2022: <a href="https://www.enlace2022.com/">https://www.enlace2022.com/</a>.

to establishing collaborations between institutions to supply an increasing demand for EIPM literacy.

The offer of courses or programs on EIPM has shown an increasing tendency over the last five years, mostly online (both synchronous and asynchronous) and in English. One regional experience, developed by the University of Antioquia in Colombia in collaboration with the University of São Paulo in Brazil, engaged postgraduate students that are Portuguese and Spanish speakers in a joint course. The Brazilian Coalition for Evidence also developed two editions of an online introductory course on EIPM in Portuguese and a map of international courses related to EIPM.<sup>3</sup>. The second edition of the Coalition's course was focused on gender and race-diverse participants to engage a broader scope of civil society stakeholders in the equity dimension of EIPM. There is still an opportunity to develop mentorship models and cross-sectoral learning.

#### **Emergence of data-driven initiatives**

In recent years, the Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) region has witnessed a growing trend towards data-driven initiatives within the research for development (R4D) ecosystem. This micro trend reflects the increasing recognition of the potential of data and emerging technologies to drive innovation, inform evidence-based decision-making, and address complex development challenges in the region. Researchers in LAC are adopting data-driven research approaches, harnessing the power of diverse datasets, including big data, open data, and geospatial data, to gain a deeper understanding of the region's social, economic, and environmental dynamics. These data-driven approaches enable researchers to identify patterns, trends, and correlations that were previously challenging to uncover, thereby facilitating evidence-based policy recommendations and innovative solutions.

Collaboration and partnerships are crucial in data-driven initiatives within the R4D ecosystem in LAC. Researchers are increasingly collaborating with governments, civil society organizations, private sector actors, and international development agencies to access and share data, pool resources, and develop innovative solutions. These collaborations foster interdisciplinary approaches, enrich data quality and diversity, and promote knowledge exchange, ensuring that data-driven initiatives in LAC are comprehensive and impactful.

Efforts are being made to enhance data accessibility and build the LAC researchers' capacity to utilize data-driven approaches effectively. Initiatives are underway to improve data infrastructure, promote open data policies, and provide data collection, analysis, and visualization training. These endeavours aim to bridge the data gap and empower researchers with the necessary skills and resources to engage in data-driven research. Furthermore, capacity-building programs focus on strengthening ethical considerations, data privacy, and data governance to ensure responsible and inclusive data practices.

However, data-driven initiatives in LAC also face challenges. Limited data availability, data quality issues, data privacy concerns, and disparities in data infrastructure across the region

19

<sup>3</sup> Available at: <a href="https://coalizaopelasevidencias.org.br/cursos/">https://coalizaopelasevidencias.org.br/cursos/</a>

hinder the full realization of the potential of data-driven approaches. Efforts are needed to address these challenges by strengthening data governance frameworks, promoting data standards and interoperability, and building trust among stakeholders. Additionally, investments in data literacy and data management capacity are crucial to ensure researchers can effectively utilize data-driven approaches.

#### **Increased technocratic capacity**

Technocratic capacity has significantly increased among government workers and improved the demand for evidence in recent years, positively impacting the region's development. The COVID-19 pandemic was a "stimulus" to improve the technical and scientific capacity in the LAC region. There has been progress in creating and using technological tools, developing standards/shared protocols, and disseminating knowledge by researchers and knowledge intermediaries (Romão, 2020). In Brazil alone, 952 civil servants received a degree of specialists in Evidence-Informed Policymaking between 2016 and 2019 (Silva et al., 2022). EIPM/R4D institutionalization in the region still faces barriers such as lack of resources, political instabilities, and abrupt changes in governments (such as impeachments and elected governments with completely different policy views).

Even during governments considered populists, there were possibilities of collaboration among technocrats and leaders. Populists seem more willing to listen to science when it does not clash with the fulfilment of their mandate or when they face significant restrictions on their governing options in the absence of experts. Thus, understanding what incentives and restrictions are in place and how researchers can build social and political coalitions to support technocrats is key for the region (Barrenechea & Dargent, 2020).

### Limited funding and competing agendas

There is limited funding, particularly from local sources, and available funding does not cover emerging issues. Dollar depreciation and regional gross national product growth may affect how governments fund research (Becerra-Posada et al., 2021). LAC organizations seem to have a remarkable dependence on funding from the Global North to collaborate and innovate in R4D initiatives. Fundraising is a crucial and critical capacity gap since many organizations and initiatives depend on those sources to maintain their activities. Since 2019, there have been numerous challenges related to accessing finance for research in certain areas of Latin America and the Caribbean. There is also a need to align funders' expectations regarding opposition from businesses, or conflicting government goals may ultimately determine whether the projects are turned into practice or policy (Bleecker et al., 2021).

National Development Banks (NDB) have a role in supporting innovation. The World Bank, the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), and the Corporación Andina de Fomento – Banco de Desarrollo de América Latina (CAF) are examples of such multilateral partners. Different political cycles (Brazil, Chile, and Mexico) also result in varying levels of autonomy in determining areas of interest; some governments designate specific sectors as the primary focus for innovation support, whereas more conservative governments (Chile) emphasise horizontal aspects such as entrepreneurship (Carreras et al., 2022).

The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the need for rapid and responsive research in the region, but limited funding from local sources may have hampered the ability of local researchers to conduct this research. While issues such as climate change, health and migration have gained increased attention, important topics are still not adequately addressed in research agendas. The lack of funding for emerging issues such as digital rights and democracy may limit the region's ability to respond to emerging challenges related to the digital transformation of knowledge production and use.

#### Gender and equality in R4D

In a scenario of political uncertainty, women and girls are more vulnerable to undesired social outcomes. There seems to be a relationship between government corruption and the exposure of women and girls to human trafficking and sexual exploitation (Transparency International, 2023). As primary caretakers for their families, women are often more exposed to experiencing sexual extortion – or sextortion – when accessing a government service, like health care or education, or knowing someone who has (Pring & Vrushi, 2019).

Despite women being well represented in higher education, a persistent gap should still be addressed in the R4D environment. The region is one of just two globally that have achieved parity in the share of female and male researchers (Bello & Estébanez, 2022), with 56,16% of women representation in higher education and 44,31% of women researchers in 2020.4. While the development of capacities through governmental and private efforts has led to higher inclusion and training of women, inequalities remain in several countries and certain disciplinary sectors (Bello & Estébanez, 2022), such as Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM). Prejudices persist across professional cycles and affect the career development of female researchers and professionals in R4D systems and enterprises (OECD, 2020).

Access to higher education has overall increased but remains unequal. Most students who access higher education belong to the richest families – compared with a low percentage from low-income families. Also, completion rates are low in the whole region, especially for indigenous, black, and rural people (Guzmán-Valenzuela, 2016). While several countries have implemented affirmative action for historically disadvantaged groups, access to the most prestigious higher education institutions remains prominent among white and wealthy students.

# 2.3 Key drivers and inhibitors of change in the ecosystem in the region and impacts on key actors

The R4D ecosystem in Latin America is influenced by various macro and micro-level trends that shape the opportunities and challenges faced by different countries and contexts in the region. The identified macro and micro trends are shaped by driving forces (drivers of change) and inhibiting forces (inhibitors of change) that influence these trends.

The force field analysis below examines the key change and resistance factors associated with the identified macro and micro-level trends. Identifying these forces can help stakeholders better

http://app.redindices.org/ui/v3/comparative.html?indicator=PCTESTUDXSEX&family=ESUP &start\_year=2011&end\_year=2020. Accessed on May 25, 2023.

<sup>4</sup>Data from:

understand the dynamics at play and assess the balance between driving and inhibiting forces. The purpose of this exercise is to provide IDRC and other stakeholders with insights to:

- Prioritize actions: force field analysis provides a basis for prioritizing actions and interventions. Stakeholders can focus on strengthening the driving forces or drivers of change and address or mitigate the inhibitors of change to overcome barriers and challenges.
- 2. Develop strategies: The analysis helps stakeholders develop targeted strategies to leverage the driving forces and mitigate the inhibiting forces. Strategies can involve resource allocation, capacity building, policy advocacy, collaboration, and fostering partnerships to maximize the positive impacts and minimize the negative impacts.

Overall, force field analysis provides a systematic framework for understanding and responding to the complex dynamics of the R4D ecosystem in Latin America. It helps stakeholders make informed decisions, identify strategic interventions, and navigate the evolving landscape to foster positive change and maximize the impact of research and development efforts in the region.

Macro-level trends	Drivers of change	Inhibitors of change	Potential impact on key actors.5
Global economic crisis	The global economic crisis can drive change in the R4D ecosystem as it prompts governments and development actors to seek innovative solutions and strategies to address economic challenges.	Governments and development actors may face competing demands and objectives, leading to limited resources and reduced investments in key sectors such as education and research.	R4D actors may face funding challenges, limiting their capacity to conduct research and collaborate on R&D initiatives.  Actors such as universities may experience reduced resources for research projects and struggle to attract funding.  Prompts actors such as universities, think tanks, and research networks to seek innovative solutions to address economic challenges.
Political polarization		Political polarization can hinder consensus and effective policymaking during times of economic crisis.	It can affect the ability and willingness of actors from different sectors/places of the political spectrum to work together and collaborate - especially at the national level.  Political polarization can affect the ability of actors such as universities and other research centres to maintain a neutral and unbiased research environment since political polarization can impact academic freedom.  On the other hand, it encourages actors to play a role in bridging

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This column provides an overview on the potential impacts of the identified trends on different actors. This is not meant to be an exhaustive list covering all actors or the potential impact of trends on them.

-

			ideological gaps and promoting evidence-based policies.
Public Distrust in Institutions	Public distrust in public institutions can drive change by catalysing efforts to enhance transparency, accountability, and responsiveness in the R4D ecosystem. This can increase the demand for evidence-based policies and practices that rebuild public trust.	Public distrust in institutions can impede progress by eroding confidence in the validity and reliability of evidence. Lack of trust can hinder effective collaboration between researchers, policymakers, and the public, creating barriers to evidence uptake and utilization.	Actors may face challenges in engaging with the public, policymakers, and political institutions more broadly, as the lack of trust in institutions can hinder the acceptance and utilization of research outcomes and evidence.  It can encourage efforts to enhance transparency, accountability, and responsiveness in the R4D ecosystem.
Increasing Focus on Climate Change	The growing focus on climate change drives change in the R4D ecosystem, encouraging investment in research and innovation to address environmental challenges. This driver can foster collaboration, knowledge sharing, and the development of sustainable practices.	The complexity and magnitude of climate change challenges can act as inhibitors to change. Limited resources, technological barriers, and conflicting priorities may hinder the ability to translate research into tangible solutions and policies.	Reorganization of global <b>funding agendas</b> away from pro-poor research, social protection, etc., will have different impacts across the sector.  Actors specializing in environmental research or other related activities may see increased research funding and collaboration opportunities in addressing climate challenges.
New technologies, including Web 3 and ChatGTP (and other LLM)	Limited resources and funding constraints. Institutional barriers and bureaucratic processes. Resistance to change and outdated practices within organizations and institutions.	Lack of awareness and understanding of new technologies among researchers and policymakers.  Privacy and ethical concerns associated with the use of emerging technologies.  Limited technological infrastructure and access disparities across the region.	Universities, research networks, and think tanks can leverage new technologies to enhance their research capabilities, communication reach and knowledge dissemination.  Actors can streamline processes, improve efficiency, and access advanced data analysis tools, strengthening their research outputs.  It is becoming clear that several roles will be affected greatly - e.g. early career researchers/advisors whose roles can be already replaced with LLM tools.  Concerns about the ethical use of technologies and potential job displacement for certain roles within the R4D ecosystem might exist.

Public Perceptions of Science and Evidence have shifted	The public perception of science and evidence plays a crucial role in driving change in the R4D ecosystem. Increased public awareness, trust, and demand for evidence-based policies can foster an enabling environment for research and innovation.	Public scepticism, misinformation, and lack of scientific literacy can inhibit change by undermining trust in evidence and hindering the adoption of evidence- based practices. Misalignment between public opinion and scientific consensus can impede the use of evidence in decision- making.	Actors that effectively communicate scientific findings can enhance their reputation and attract collaboration opportunities with other actors in the ecosystem.  Misalignment between public opinion and scientific consensus can impede/hinder the use of evidence by key actors in the ecosystem.  A more visible and important role of independent media as sources of information and evidence since they might be better aligned with public opinion.
---	--	--	---

Micro level trends	Drivers	Inhibitors	Potential impact on key R4D actors
R4D ecosystem in the region has seen important growth	Increasing recognition of the importance of research and development in achieving sustainable development goals. Growing demand for evidence-based policies and practices. Collaboration and networking opportunities expand the reach and impact of research initiatives.	Limited resources and funding constraints. Institutional barriers and bureaucratic processes.  Resistance to change and outdated practices within organizations and institutions.	The R4D space has increased. There are more opportunities to engage with the R4D discourse and community.  R4D (e.g. evidence-informed policy) communities are much wider than before. Funding should follow by looking beyond usual suspects.
New technologies , including Web 3 and ChatGTP (and other LLM)	Limited resources and funding constraints. Institutional barriers and bureaucratic processes. Resistance to change and outdated practices within organizations and institutions.	Lack of awareness and understanding of new technologies among researchers and policymakers. Privacy and ethical concerns associated with the use of emerging technologies. Limited technological infrastructure and access disparities across the region.	Universities, research networks, and think tanks can leverage new technologies to enhance their research capabilities, communication reach and knowledge dissemination.  Actors can streamline processes, improve efficiency, and access advanced data analysis tools, strengthening their research outputs.  It is becoming clear that several roles will be affected greatly - e.g. early career

Emergence of data- driven initiatives	Growing recognition of the value of data for evidence-based decision-making.  Increasing availability and accessibility of data through digital platforms and tools.  Potential for data-driven approaches to address complex challenges and inform policy interventions.	Data privacy and security concerns. Limited technical skills and capacity for data collection, analysis, and interpretation. Unequal access to data and limited datasharing mechanisms.	researchers/advisors whose roles can be already replaced with LLM tools.  Concerns about the ethical use of technologies and potential job displacement for certain roles within the R4D ecosystem might exist.  Universities, research networks, and think tanks can leverage data-driven approaches to enhance evidence-based decision-making. They can access and analyse large datasets, leading to more informed policy recommendations and interventions.  Limited technical skills and capacity for data collection, analysis, and interpretation may hinder actors from fully capitalizing on the potential of data-driven initiatives.  Unequal access to data and limited data-sharing mechanisms can also create disparities among actors within the R4D ecosystem.
Increased technocratic capacity	Growing expertise and skills in research, technology, and innovation. Investment in education and training programs to enhance technical capacity. Recognition of the importance of evidence-informed decision-making among policymakers.	Brain drain and talent migration to other regions. Limited investment in research and development infrastructure. Resistance to interdisciplinary and cross-sectoral collaboration.	Actors in the ecosystem can benefit from the growing expertise and skills in research, technology, and innovation. They can enhance their capacity to produce high-quality research, engage in evidence-informed decision-making, and contribute to policy development.
Data governance	Recognition of the need for ethical and responsible handling of data. Development of data governance frameworks and	Complex regulatory environments and lack of harmonization across countries. Limited awareness and understanding of data governance principles.	Universities, research networks, and think tanks can contribute to developing ethical and responsible data- handling practices. They can promote transparency, accountability, and trust in

	regulations. Growing demand for transparency and accountability in data practices.	Challenges in balancing data privacy and data accessibility.	data practices, thereby enhancing the credibility of research outputs and policy recommendations.  Complex regulatory environments and a lack of harmonization across countries can challenge actors in implementing data governance frameworks.
Limited funding and competing agendas	Increasing focus on cost-effectiveness and efficiency in resource allocation. Alignment of funding priorities with national and regional development goals. Demand for innovative funding models and partnerships.	Resource constraints and competing funding priorities.  Lack of long-term funding commitments.  Limited coordination and collaboration among funders.	Actors can align funding priorities with national and regional development goals and explore innovative funding models and partnerships.
Gender and equality	Recognition of the importance of gender equality in research and development. Growing advocacy for inclusive and equitable participation of women in the R4D ecosystem. Implementation of gender-responsive policies and initiatives.	Gender biases and stereotypes within the research and development sector. Limited representation of women in leadership positions. Challenges in addressing intersecting inequalities and promoting inclusivity.	Universities, research networks, and think tanks can promote a more inclusive and diverse R4D ecosystem by recognizing and prioritizing gender equality. This can lead to increased opportunities for women's participation, enhanced perspectives in research, and the development of gender-responsive policies and initiatives.

It is important to note that these drivers and inhibitors are not exhaustive and may vary across different contexts within the region. Understanding these forces can help stakeholders identify strategies to amplify the drivers of change and address the inhibitors, leading to a more dynamic and impactful R4D ecosystem in Latin America and the Caribbean.

## 3. Spotlight on actors

This section will explore the impacts of the trends shaping the Research for Development (R4D) ecosystem on key actors in the Latin America and Caribbean (LAC) region. While we cannot cover every possible actor in the region, we recognize the diversity of actors operating in different spheres within the ecosystem. To provide a comprehensive understanding of these impacts, we have classified the variety of actors into the following groups: research-producing actors (including networks), communicators and disseminators (such as think tanks, media outlets, NGOs, and social movements), users of evidence (including scientific advisory bodies), and funders of R4D (including governments, private funders, and foreign entities).

By examining the impacts on these key actors, we aim to shed light on how macro and micro-level trends shape their roles and contributions within the R4D ecosystem. It is important to note that there are overlaps in these classifications, as actors often engage in multiple roles and collaborations within the ecosystem.

### Research producing actors

Research-producing actors, such as universities, research institutions, and think tanks, generate knowledge and evidence in the R4D (Research for Development) ecosystem. The following trends have important impacts on these actors:

- The economic crisis resulting from the pandemic has affected funding sources for research-producing actors. Many institutions have experienced budget cuts or funding reallocations, limiting their capacity to conduct research. As a result, these actors may face challenges in sustaining research projects and maintaining research teams.
- Political polarization may affect network formation and collaboration between research
  organisations especially at the national level. Coupled with low trust in institutions, this
  may hinder collaboration between researchers and policymaking bodies (especially where
  scientific advisory systems are not in place), political parties, the media, and private and
  civil society institutions.
- The heightened focus on climate change necessitates research-producing actors to incorporate sustainability and environmental considerations into their research agendas. This includes studying the impacts of climate change on vulnerable populations, developing sustainable solutions, and contributing to policy discussions on climate adaptation and mitigation in the LAC region.
- The rapid advancements in technology have revolutionized research methodologies and data collection techniques. Research-producing actors can leverage these technologies to enhance their research capabilities, improve data collection and analysis processes, and explore innovative approaches to generate evidence.
- The rise of digital platforms and communication tools has facilitated global collaboration among research-producing actors. This trend allows for the exchange of ideas, sharing of resources, and joint research initiatives, producing more comprehensive and impactful research outputs.
- Interdisciplinary research approaches are gaining prominence in the R4D ecosystem.
   Research-producing actors must adapt to this trend by fostering collaboration across disciplines and integrating diverse perspectives to address complex development challenges effectively.

#### Communicators and disseminators

Communicators and disseminators are critical in bridging the gap between research and its intended audiences. They include journalists, science communicators, and other knowledge brokers. The following trends impact these actors:

There is a growing demand for effective science communication to make research
findings accessible and relevant to policymakers, practitioners, and the general public.
Communicators and disseminators must adopt innovative communication strategies,
including storytelling techniques, visualizations, and multimedia platforms, to effectively
communicate research findings and engage diverse audiences.

- The economic crisis can impact communicators and disseminators as media organizations may face financial constraints, resulting in reduced research and scientific news coverage. This may limit the platforms available to communicate research findings, requiring alternative communication strategies, such as leveraging social media and online platforms.
- Communicators and disseminators may encounter challenges in the context of political
  instability and lack of trust in institutions. It becomes crucial for these actors to maintain
  integrity, verify information rigorously, and establish themselves as trusted sources of
  accurate and reliable information to combat scepticism and misinformation.
- The proliferation of fake news and misinformation challenges communicators and disseminators. These actors must navigate through the misinformation landscape, verify and fact-check information, and promote evidence-based narratives to combat misinformation and ensure the accurate dissemination of research findings.
- Communicators and disseminators have an opportunity to raise awareness about climate change and its impacts on communities. They can be vital in promoting climate literacy, translating complex scientific concepts into accessible information, and fostering public engagement and action on climate change mitigation and adaptation.
- Participatory approaches in communication and dissemination are gaining importance.
   Communicators and disseminators should involve stakeholders and communities in shaping research messages, co-creating knowledge products, and ensuring the relevance and uptake of research evidence at the grassroots level.

#### Users of evidence

Users of evidence include policymakers, practitioners, development organizations, and communities who utilize research findings to inform decision-making and development interventions. The following trends have impacts on these actors:

- The economic crisis resulting from the pandemic has posed challenges for evidence users, particularly in resource-constrained settings. Limited financial resources may hinder their ability to implement evidence-based interventions or access the latest research findings.
- In contexts of political instability and lack of trust in institutions, evidence users may face challenges in accessing and utilizing research findings. The lack of confidence in institutions may lead to scepticism or selective use of evidence, impacting the effectiveness and relevance of policies and interventions. Efforts to enhance transparency, promote evidence uptake, and foster multi-stakeholder engagement can help address these challenges.
- The demand for evidence-informed policy and decision-making is increasing. Users of evidence need to be adept at accessing, interpreting, and applying research findings to design and implement effective policies and interventions. Building strong partnerships with research-producing actors and engaging in knowledge exchange platforms can enhance the uptake of evidence in policy and practice.
- The pandemic has underscored the importance of evidence-informed decision-making for policymakers, practitioners, and communities. Users of evidence have had to rapidly adapt their approaches and interventions based on the evolving research findings related to the virus, public health measures, and socioeconomic impacts. Access to timely and

reliable research evidence has become crucial for effective pandemic response and recovery strategies.

## 4. Reflections and implications

The R4D ecosystem in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) is undergoing significant transformation, driven by various macro and micro-level trends. These trends, such as the economic crisis, erosion of public trust, and the emergence of new technologies, have been shaping the region for a long time. However, what is changing is the increased awareness among stakeholders about the implications of these challenges and the growing capabilities of actors in the region to address them.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a profound and lasting impact on the R4D ecosystem. It has catalyzed change, highlighting the importance of science ecosystems in the region, the need for cross-country collaboration, and the necessity for governments to effectively utilize available evidence to respond to crises. The "before and after" effect of the pandemic calls for leveraging this boost and clarity to strengthen the R4D ecosystem further, enhance research collaboration, and promote evidence-based decision-making.

Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic has brought to the forefront the importance of collaboration, evidence-informed decision-making, and the role of research and innovation in addressing complex challenges. Building upon the lessons learned from the pandemic, it is crucial to strengthen the R4D ecosystem in LAC further. This can be done by promoting cross-country collaboration, enhancing data governance frameworks, and investing in technological advancements that enable effective research and knowledge sharing.

In this context, networks are vital in connecting experts, practitioners, and institutions across the region. IDRC can support and strengthen these networks by providing funding, resources, and capacity-building opportunities. Actors in the region are willing and interested in sharing their experiences and bringing together experts and practitioners from different backgrounds and areas of expertise.

Based on inputs from experts and existing literature, all the trends identified in this report present challenges and opportunities for the R4D ecosystem in LAC. The ecosystem is crucial in providing Latin America with the tools and knowledge necessary to respond effectively to the current crises. By capitalizing on these trends, investing in research and innovation, fostering collaboration, and empowering stakeholders, the R4D ecosystem can serve as an engine for positive change and contribute to sustainable development in the region.

As a funder, IDRC already works and supports actors in the region across many areas identified in this report. However, grappling with the multipolarity of the world and the emergence of new actors, such as China, is essential. Understanding the implications of these shifts and identifying strategic opportunities for collaboration can enhance the impact and effectiveness of IDRC's work in the region. This involves engaging with emerging actors, leveraging their expertise and resources, and ensuring equitable partnerships that align with IDRC's mandate and values.

Possible areas for IDRC's attention include:

- Re-focus IDRC's research agenda to consider the trends identified in this study as research topics in themselves: IDRC can help the R4D ecosystem respond to these trends by investing in its own capacity to understand and navigate them as they develop.
- Foster collaboration and knowledge exchange: IDRC can facilitate collaboration and knowledge exchange between researchers, policymakers, and practitioners in LAC. This can be done through funding initiatives that promote regional and international research networks, platforms for sharing best practices, and capacity-building programs focused on research uptake and policy influence.
- Improve citizens' trust in governments, other public institutions and evidence: IDRC can foster citizen and stakeholder engagement initiatives dedicated to improving trust in governments, other public institutions (such as media and political parties) and evidence and increasing democratic participation in the R4D ecosystem. This can include funding for knowledge translation, stakeholder dialogues and online participation mechanisms. It can also include support for institutionalising R4D in governments, the media and political parties, guaranteeing sustainability and resilience in the face of political uncertainty and crisis.
- **Support technological innovations**: IDRC can explore partnerships and funding opportunities to support the adoption and integration of emerging technologies, such as Web 3 and Chat GTP, into the R4D ecosystem in LAC. This can involve supporting pilot projects that leverage these technologies for data collection, analysis, and knowledge dissemination while ensuring ethical considerations and addressing potential biases.
- **Strengthen data governance**: Given the increasing importance of data in research and evidence generation, IDRC can support initiatives that strengthen data governance frameworks in LAC. This can involve funding projects that address data privacy concerns, promote open data initiatives, and develop ethical data collection, storage, and sharing guidelines.
- Address funding gaps and competing agendas: IDRC can help address the limited funding and competing agendas by strategically supporting projects that fill critical gaps in the R4D ecosystem. This can include funding research on underrepresented topics, supporting early-stage innovations, and providing flexible funding mechanisms to promote long-term sustainability and innovation.
- Engage with China and multipolarity: As the role of China continues to grow in Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) and within the Research for Development (R4D) landscape, it is crucial for IDRC to carefully consider how to address this phenomenon in its strategic positioning, future programming, and partnership plans in the region. Understanding and effectively engaging with China's presence in LAC will be important for IDRC to navigate and leverage the opportunities and challenges it brings to the research and development ecosystem in the region.

# Additional topics and areas for research in Latin America and the Caribbean

Notwithstanding the recommendation that funds should support a more nuanced and robust understanding of these trends, this section presents an overview of the priority topics identified by think tanks in LAC and explores why these topics are considered important in the region. This was not an original request from IDRC, and it emerged during the review process. Our study has focused on trends affecting the sector's functioning and not the sector's research agenda.

We have used the outcomes of OTT's State of the Survey Report 2022 to identify these topics. This survey gathered the insights of 42 think tanks operating in the region and asked them to identify the topics and areas of research that feature prominently in the research agendas. While the survey represents the perspective of think tanks, it provides valuable insights into the relevant topics by various regional actors.

By combining the survey findings with the trends (macro and micro) shaping the R4D ecosystem in the region, we can shed some light on areas that could inform IDRC's research agenda.

*Table 1.* Answers from think tanks in Latin America and the Caribbean regarding their research agenda topics.

Topics research agendas	Number of answers
Governance	16
Social policy	15
Trade, economics, finance	12
Defence peace and security	12
Environment, climate change	10
Law, justice, human rights	7
Covid 19 Impacts and recovery	6
Health	4
Education	4
Science, technology and innovation	3
Food security and agriculture	2
Gender	2

Source: OTT State of the Survey Report 2022

- **Governance**: Governance is the most frequently mentioned topic, with 16 answers from think tanks. This indicates a strong recognition of the importance of improving LAC governance structures, policies and practices. The region faces various governance challenges, including corruption, institutional weaknesses, and the need for transparency and accountability. Research in this area can contribute to strengthening democratic institutions, promoting good governance, and addressing socio-political issues in LAC.
- **Social Policy**: Social policy is the second most commonly mentioned topic, with 15 answers. This reflects the region's need to address social inequalities, poverty, and

exclusion. LAC countries grapple with disparities in access to education, healthcare, social protection, and basic services. Research in this area can inform the design and implementation of effective social policies, poverty reduction strategies and inclusive development agendas.

- Trade, economics, and finance: The region strongly depends on international trade, and research in this area can inform trade policies, enhance economic competitiveness, and explore opportunities for sustainable economic growth. Additionally, research on finance and investment can contribute to financial stability, capital mobilization, and the development of inclusive financial systems.
- **Defence**, **peace**, **and security:** This topic was mentioned 12 times, emphasizing the challenges faced by the region, including organized crime, drug trafficking, violence and conflicts. Research in this area can enhance security policies, promote peacebuilding, address root causes of violence, and ensure citizen safety.
- Environment and climate change: This topic is mentioned ten times, reflecting the growing recognition of environmental issues in LAC. The region is rich in biodiversity and natural resources but faces environmental degradation, deforestation, pollution, and vulnerability to climate change. Research in this area can inform sustainable development strategies, climate change mitigation and adaptation measures, and the conservation of natural ecosystems.
- Law, Justice, Human Rights: This topic is mentioned seven times. The region faces challenges related to the rule of law, access to justice, human rights violations, and the fight against impunity. Research in this area can strengthen legal institutions, promote human rights, and ensure equal access to justice for all.
- **Covid-19 impacts and recovery**: The region has been significantly affected by the pandemic with disruption in healthcare systems, economic activities and social wellbeing. Research in this area can inform public health responses, economic recovery strategies, and social resilience-building efforts.
- **Health:** Factors such as urbanization, demographic changes, climate change impact, and pandemics have significant implications for public health in the region. Research efforts must be directed towards understanding and addressing the specific health challenges faced by LAC countries, including healthcare disparities, access to vaccines and treatments, and the long-term effects of the pandemic on physical and mental well-being.
- **Education**: The region faces challenges such as educational inequality, limited access to digital infrastructure, and the impact of extended school closures. Addressing these issues through rigorous research and evidence-based interventions is crucial to ensure inclusive and quality education in LAC.
- Science, technology, and innovation: This area plays a crucial role in driving
  economic growth, fostering social progress, and addressing complex challenges in the
  LAC region. Macro trends such as digital transformation, the need for sustainable
  development, and the quest for knowledge-based economies underscore the importance
  of this area.

During the online Latin America and the Caribbean Evidence Meeting (enLACe 2022), participants expressed their priorities for evidence-informed policymaking in the region. They emphasized their interest in various topics, including social, economic, and urban inequalities, mental health, black populations and racism, and sustainable development in relation to the environment.

In addition to the identified topics, participants also highlighted specific demands for capacity sharing, ecosystem mapping, and monitoring. These demands included:

- Training for governments to effectively utilize evidence in their decision-making processes. Additionally, participants emphasized the importance of training evidence producers and disseminators in innovative knowledge translation methodologies.
- Mapping and promoting connections between key actors in the R4D ecosystem, including
  evidence producers, users, and disseminators. This emphasis on creating and
  strengthening connections aims to enhance collaboration and knowledge exchange.
- Monitoring the use of evidence in policy decision-making. Participants recognized the importance of tracking how evidence is utilized in shaping policies to ensure its effective integration and impact.

The priorities and demands expressed by the participants during enLACe 2022 reflect the interest in addressing critical issues and improving evidence-informed policy-making in the region. By focusing on these topics and promoting capacity sharing, ecosystem mapping, and monitoring, stakeholders aim to enhance the use of evidence and its impact on policy decisions.

## 5. Bibliography

Bachelet, P. (2021). How does mistrust impact your quality of life? Retrieved from IDB: https://www.iadb.org/en/improvinglives/how-does-trust-impact-your-quality-life

Barrenechea, R., & Dargent, E. (2020). Populists and technocrats in Latin America: Conflict, cohabitation, and cooperation. Politics and Governance, 8(4), 509–519. https://doi.org/10.17645/pag.v8i4.3333

Becerra-Posada, F. et al. (2021). Politics and political determinants of health policy and systems research funding in Latin America and the Caribbean. Public Health Research & Practice, 31(4). https://doi.org/10.17061/phrp3142120

Benjamin Gedan, Beatriz García Nice, & Francisco Urdinez. (2023). On the Horizon 2023 | Latin America | Wilson Center. <a href="https://www.wilsoncenter.org/article/horizon-2023-latin-america">https://www.wilsoncenter.org/article/horizon-2023-latin-america</a>

Bello, A. & Estébanez, M.E. (2022). An unbalanced equation: increasing participation of women in STEM in LAC. UNESCO. <a href="http://forocilac.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/PolicyPapers-CILAC-Gender-ENG-VFEB22-2.pdf">http://forocilac.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/PolicyPapers-CILAC-Gender-ENG-VFEB22-2.pdf</a>

Bleecker, L., Sauveplane-Stirling, V., Di Ruggiero, E., & Sellen, D. (2021). Evaluating the integration of strategic priorities within a complex research-for-development funding program. Evaluation and Program Planning, 89, 102009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2021.102009

Bosworth, J. (2023, maio 1). Latin America Needs to Start Preparing for AI's Economic Impact. World Politics Review. <a href="https://www.worldpoliticsreview.com/latin-america-economy-ai-politics-artificial-intelligence-effects-chatgpt/">https://www.worldpoliticsreview.com/latin-america-economy-ai-politics-artificial-intelligence-effects-chatgpt/</a>

Camacho-Leon, G., Faytong-Haro, M., Carrera, K., Molero, M., Melean, F., Reyes, Y., Mautong, H., De La Hoz, I., & Cherrez-Ojeda, I. (2022). A Narrative Review of Telemedicine in Latin America during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Healthcare, 10(8), Article 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare10081361

Carneiro, B., Resce, G., Ruscica, G., Donati, I., Pacillo, G., Castellanos, A., & Martínez Barón, D. (2021). A web analytics approach to map the influence and reach of CCAFS: Latin America Focus [Working Paper]. CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security. https://cgspace.cgiar.org/handle/10568/116801

Carreras, M., Griffith-Jones, S., Ocampo, J. A., Xu, J., & Henow, A. (2022). Implementing Innovation Policies: Capabilities of National Development Banks for Innovation Financing. <a href="https://publications.iadb.org/publications/english/viewer/Implementing-Innovation-Policies-">https://publications.iadb.org/publications/english/viewer/Implementing-Innovation-Policies-</a>

Capabilities-of-National-Development-Banks-for-Innovation-Financing.pdf

CEPAL. (2021). Oportunidades y desafíos para la implementación de blockchain en el ámbito logístico de América Latina y el Caribe. Facilitación, Comercio y Logistica en América Latina y el Caribe, 3. https://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/47098/S2100365\_es.pdf

CGIAR. (2021). CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security. CGIAR. <a href="https://www.cgiar.org/research/program-platform/climate-change-agriculture-and-food-security/">https://www.cgiar.org/research/program-platform/climate-change-agriculture-and-food-security/</a>

CDKN Global. (2020, April 16). The challenge of international climate finance in Latin America. Retrieved from <a href="https://cdkn.org/story/opinion-the-challenge-of-international-climate-finance-in-latin-america">https://cdkn.org/story/opinion-the-challenge-of-international-climate-finance-in-latin-america</a>

CIC, N. (2022, junho 30). Get ready for justice to take center stage in climate action. Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies. <a href="https://medium.com/sdg16plus/get-ready-for-justice-to-take-center-stage-in-climate-action-fof7201db9c">https://medium.com/sdg16plus/get-ready-for-justice-to-take-center-stage-in-climate-action-fof7201db9c</a>

Coalizão Brasileira pelas Evidências. (2023). Sobre Nós | Coalizão Brasileira pelas Evidências. https://coalizaopelasevidencias.org.br/sobre/

Coda, J. (2021, April 14). Promoting Climate Change Action in Latin America and the Caribbean. Retrieved from World Bank:

https://www.worldbank.org/en/results/2021/04/14/promoting-climate-change-action-in-latin-america-and-the-caribbean

Daniel Zovatto. (2023). Latin America Political and Electoral Outlook 2023 | International IDEA. Latin America Political and Electoral Outlook 2023: https://www.idea.int/news-media/news/latin-america-political-and-electoral-outlook-2023

Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. (2021). La prolongación de la crisis sanitaria y su impacto en la salud, la economía y el desarrollo social. United Nations. <a href="https://doi.org/10.18356/9789210016377">https://doi.org/10.18356/9789210016377</a>

Ellis, E. et al. (2022). China's Use of Soft Power in Support of its Strategic Engagement in Latin America. Journal of the Americas.

https://www.airuniversity.af.edu/Portals/10/JOTA/journals/Volume-4 Issue-2/03-Ellis\_eng.pdf Guzmán-Valenzuela, C. (2016). Global trends and their impact on Latin America: the role of the state and the private sector in the provision of higher education. Centre for Global Higher Education. <a href="https://www.researchcghe.org/perch/resources/publications/wp4.pdf">https://www.researchcghe.org/perch/resources/publications/wp4.pdf</a>

Hanney, S., Kanya, L., Pokhrel, S., Jones, T., & Boaz, A. ([s.d.]). What is the evidence on policies, interventions and tools for establishing and/or strengthening national health research systems and their effectiveness?

Ivanova, A., Kozack, J., Roldos, J., & Muñoz, S. (2021, October 28). Climate Change in Latin America and the Caribbean Challenges and Opportunities. Retrieved from IMF Blogs: <a href="https://www.imf.org/en/Blogs/Articles/2021/10/28/blog-climate-change-latin-america-the-caribbean-challenges-and-opportunities">https://www.imf.org/en/Blogs/Articles/2021/10/28/blog-climate-change-latin-america-the-caribbean-challenges-and-opportunities</a>

Keefer, P., Scartascini, C., & Vlaicu, R. (2021). Shortchanging the Future: The Short-Term Bias of Politics. In A. Izquierdo, C. Pessino, & G. Vuletin, Better Spending for Better Lives: How Latin America and the Caribbean Can Do More with Less. IDB.

José Manuel Salazar-Xirinachs. (2023, Janeiro 19). How Latin American and Caribbean countries can mitigate slow growth in 2023. World Economic Forum. <a href="https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2023/01/2023-will-be-a-challenging-year-for-latin-america-and-the-caribbean-here-are-some-policy-priorities/">https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2023/01/2023-will-be-a-challenging-year-for-latin-america-and-the-caribbean-here-are-some-policy-priorities/</a>

Julian Cristia & Razvan Vlaicu. (2022). Digitalizing public services: Opportunities for Latin America and the Caribbean. <a href="https://flagships.iadb.org/en/MicroReport/digitalizing-public-services-opportunities-for-latin-america-and-the-caribbean">https://flagships.iadb.org/en/MicroReport/digitalizing-public-services-opportunities-for-latin-america-and-the-caribbean</a>

López-Vergès, S., Macías-Navarro, L., Hernández-Mondragón, A. C., Corrales-Aguilar, E., Soler, M. G., & Guerra, M. (2021). Closing the Gap Between Emerging Initiatives and Integrated Strategies to Strengthen Science Diplomacy in Latin America. Frontiers in Research Metrics and Analytics, 6, 664880. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/frma.2021.664880">https://doi.org/10.3389/frma.2021.664880</a>

Mansilla, C., Herrera, C. A., Boeira, L., Yearwood, A., Lopez, A. S., Colunga-Lozano, L. E., Brocard, E., Villacres, T., Vélez, M., Paolantonio, G. D., & Reveiz, L. (2022). Characterising COVID-19 empirical research production in Latin America and the Caribbean: A scoping review. PLOS ONE, 17(2), e0263981. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0263981

Merke, F., Stuenkel, O. & Feldmann, A.E. (2021). Reimagining Regional Governance in Latin America. Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. <a href="https://carnegieendowment.org/2021/06/24/reimagining-regional-governance-in-latin-america-pub-84813">https://carnegieendowment.org/2021/06/24/reimagining-regional-governance-in-latin-america-pub-84813</a>

Myers, M. & Ray, R. (2022). At a Crossroads: Chinese Development Finance to Latin America and the Caribbean. BU Global Development Policy Center. <a href="https://www.thedialogue.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Chinese-Development-Finance-2023-FINAL.pdf">https://www.thedialogue.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Chinese-Development-Finance-2023-FINAL.pdf</a>

Morales, M. (2021). Scientific Advisory Systems: Experiences from across the world (p. 42). On Think Tanks.

Nicolle, Stephanie, Baertl Andrea, Gilbreath Dustin (2022), Think Tank State of the Sector Report 2022, On Think Tanks. <a href="https://onthinktanks.org/publications/think-tank-state-of-the-sector-2022/">https://onthinktanks.org/publications/think-tank-state-of-the-sector-2022/</a>

Nugent, C. & Campbell, C. (2021). The U.S. and China Are Battling for Influence in Latin America, and the Pandemic Has Raised the Stakes. Time Magazine. <a href="https://time.com/5936037/us-china-latin-america-influence/">https://time.com/5936037/us-china-latin-america-influence/</a>

OECD. (2019). Innovation Skills and Leadership in Brazil's Public Sector: Towards a Senior Civil Service System. OECD. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1787/ef660e75-en">https://doi.org/10.1787/ef660e75-en</a>

OECD. (2020). Government at a Glance: Latin America and the Caribbean 2020. OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/13130fbb-en

Ortega, R. P., & Wessel, L. (2020). 'We're losing an entire generation of scientists.' COVID-19's economic toll hits Latin America hard. <a href="https://www.science.org/content/article/we-re-losing-entire-generation-scientists-covid-19-s-economic-toll-hits-latin-america">https://www.science.org/content/article/we-re-losing-entire-generation-scientists-covid-19-s-economic-toll-hits-latin-america</a>

Pring, C. & Vrushi, J. (2019). Global Corruption Barometer - Latin America & The Caribbean 2019. Citizens' Views And Experiences Of Corruption. https://images.transparencycdn.org/images/2019 GCB LAC Report EN1.pdf

Palmén, R., Arroyo, L., Müller, J., Reidl, S., Caprile, M., & Unger, M. (2020). Integrating the gender dimension in teaching, research content & knowledge and technology transfer: Validating the EFFORTI evaluation framework through three case studies in Europe. Evaluation and Program Planning, 79, 101751. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2019.101751">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2019.101751</a>

PERSS. (2023). Partnership for Evidence and Equity in Responsive Social Systems-PEERSS. PEERSS. <a href="https://peerss.org/">https://peerss.org/</a>

Ray, R. & Gallagher, P. (2016). China in Latin America: environment and development dimensions. Revista Tempo do Mundo, 2(2), p. 131-154. <a href="https://portalantigo.ipea.gov.br/agencia/images/stories/PDFs/rtm/160609">https://portalantigo.ipea.gov.br/agencia/images/stories/PDFs/rtm/160609</a> rtm v2 n2 arto 8.pdf

Romão, D. (2020). Organizational culture and use of evidence in the Brazilian public sector: a case study. Brasília: Instituto Veredas. <a href="https://gb4d822d-5bf4-4f84-a59e-d66453e82643.filesusr.com/ugd/63eaa2">https://gb4d822d-5bf4-4f84-a59e-d66453e82643.filesusr.com/ugd/63eaa2</a> 201c27a0876648c4b3d56ebf2d71e945.pdf

Roberto Vitón, Ana Castillo, & Tomas Lopes Teixeira. (2019). AGTECH: Mapa de la innovación Agtech en América Latina y ela Caribe. <a href="https://publications.iadb.org/es/agtech-mapa-de-la-innovacion-agtech-en-america-latina-y-el-caribe">https://publications.iadb.org/es/agtech-mapa-de-la-innovacion-agtech-en-america-latina-y-el-caribe</a>

Scartascini, C., & Valle, J. (2021, May 12). How Perceptions of Inequality Affect Trust in Latin America and the Caribbean. Retrieved from Blogs IDB: <a href="https://blogs.iadb.org/ideas-matter/en/how-perceptions-of-inequality-affect-trust-in-latin-america-and-the-caribbean/">https://blogs.iadb.org/ideas-matter/en/how-perceptions-of-inequality-affect-trust-in-latin-america-and-the-caribbean/</a>

Silva, S.F. et al. (2022). Relatório do Perfil de Egressos das Três Edições Anteriores do Projeto ESPIE: 2016/2017/2019. São Paulo: Hospital Sírio-Libanês; Ministério da Saúde. <a href="https://www.veredas.org/wordpveredas/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/espie-perfil-egressos-cursos-pie.pdf">https://www.veredas.org/wordpveredas/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/espie-perfil-egressos-cursos-pie.pdf</a>

Scrollini, F., & Cervantes, M. E. (2022). Artificial intelligence for development in Latin America. IDRC-CRDI. <a href="http://hdl.handle.net/10625/61080">http://hdl.handle.net/10625/61080</a>

Siregar, F., Morales, M., LaFrance, J., Correa, J., & Medizabal, E. (2023). Bridging Text with Context: Knowledge Translation in the Global South. (p. 81). On Think Tanks.

Stanford, V., Gresh, L., Toledo, J., Méndez, J., Aldighieri, S., & Reveiz, L. (2022). Evidence in decision-making in the context of COVID-19 in Latin America. Lancet Regional Health - Americas, 14. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lana.2022.100322">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lana.2022.100322</a>

Titelman, D., Hanni, M., Perez Benitez, N., & Carpentier, J.-B. (2023, February 16). Tackling climate change from an investment-led development perspective in Latin America and the Caribbean. Retrieved from Brookings: <a href="https://www.brookings.edu/research/tackling-climate-change-from-an-investment-led-development-perspective-in-latin-america-and-the-caribbean/">https://www.brookings.edu/research/tackling-climate-change-from-an-investment-led-development-perspective-in-latin-america-and-the-caribbean/</a>

Transparency International. (2023). CPI 2022 for the Americas: Fertile ground for criminal networks and human rights abuses. <a href="https://www.transparency.org/en/news/cpi-2022-americas-corruption-criminal-networks-human-rights-abuses">https://www.transparency.org/en/news/cpi-2022-americas-corruption-criminal-networks-human-rights-abuses</a>

Thompson, B. (2021, novembro 29). Public trust in scientists rose during the Covid-19 pandemic. Wellcome. <a href="https://wellcome.org/news/public-trust-scientists-rose-during-covid-19-pandemic">https://wellcome.org/news/public-trust-scientists-rose-during-covid-19-pandemic</a>

United Nations (Org.). (2022). A digital path for sustainable development in Latin America and the Caribbean. <a href="https://conferenciaelac.cepal.org/8/en/documents/digital-path-sustainable-development-latin-america-and-caribbean">https://conferenciaelac.cepal.org/8/en/documents/digital-path-sustainable-development-latin-america-and-caribbean</a>

UNPD. (2021). Latin America and the Caribbean: Effective Governance, Beyond Recovery. United Nations Development Programme.

Vanderbilt University. (2021). LAPOP's 2021 Americas Barometer: Pulse of Democracy. Retrieved from chrome-

extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.vanderbilt.edu/lapop/ab2021/20 21\_LAPOP\_AmericasBarometer\_2021\_Pulse\_of\_Democracy.pdf

Watkins, G. (2023, March 22). Where There is Hope, There is Opportunity For Low-Carbon and Climate-Resilient Economies in Latin America and the Caribbean. Retrieved from Blogs IADB: <a href="https://blogs.iadb.org/sostenibilidad/en/where-there-is-hope-there-is-opportunity-for-low-carbon-and-climate-resilient-economies-in-latin-america-and-the-caribbean/">https://blogs.iadb.org/sostenibilidad/en/where-there-is-hope-there-is-opportunity-for-low-carbon-and-climate-resilient-economies-in-latin-america-and-the-caribbean/</a>

Zahidi, S., & Scriven, J. (2022, maio 23). In Latin America, public-private partnerships are closing gender gap in recovery. World Economic Forum.

https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2022/05/gender-gap-public-private-partnerships-latam/



www.onthinktanks.org